
 

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Policy Overview 
Committee 

 
 
 

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) 

Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor K J Grehan 
 

Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor T A Maddison 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
 

 
 
 
 

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on 

 
Tuesday 28 January 2020 

 
 

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



 

 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
AGENDA 

 

Tuesday 28 January 2020 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of any Grant(s) of Dispensation. 
 

 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 10 September 2019 (Pages 1 - 14) 

 

4. Urgent Items   

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any)   

 There are presently no urgent items for Members to consider. 
 

 

6. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 15 - 16)  

 To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 15 January 2020 to 31 May 2020. 
 

 

7. Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee 
Meeting held on 10 September 2019 (Pages 17 - 18) 

SD (IS) 

 To note the list of action points arising from the Policy Overview 
Committee meeting held on 10 September 2019. 
 

 

8. The Litter Service (Pages 19 - 22)  

 This report advises and updates Members regarding the Council’s 
litter service and related matters. 
 

 

9. The Recycling Service (Pages 23 - 26)  

 To advise and update Members on various recycling issues. 
 

 

10. Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators 
Monitoring Report, Quarter 2 of the 2019/20 Municipal Year 
(Pages 27 - 50) 

 

 This report updates Members on the progress made with meeting the 
key actions and performance indicators for the Corporate Plan in the 

 



 

 

second quarter of the 2019/20 municipal cycle, as set out in 
Appendices A and B to the report. 
 
The report was first presented to Cabinet on 5 December 2019. 
 

11. Work Plan Update (Pages 51 - 54)  

 To consider the updated 2019/20 Work Plan attached as Appendix A 
to the report. 
 

 

 
 



 

1 

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L 
 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 10 
September 2019 at 7.00 pm 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) 
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs. A E D Barham (Substitute) 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor T A Maddison 
Councillor D J Mote (Substitute) 
Councillor E H Ben Moussa (Substitute) 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
 

 
ALSO 
PRESENT: 

Trish Chapman – Chair, Dartford Tenant’s & 
Leaseholder’s Forum 

 Sue Braysher – Director, Dartford Gravesham & 
Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) 

 Adam Wickings – Deputy MD, West Kent CCG 
 
Dartford Borough Council Officers 
 

 Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services) 

 Dave Thomas – Waste & Parks Manager 
 Nick Chapman – Assistant Environmental Health 

Manager 
 James Fox – Scientific Officer 

 
15. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND CHAIRMAN'S WELCOME AND 

UPDATE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors; Burrell, Butterfill 
(Substitute Cllr. Barham), Currans, Grehan (Sub. Cllr. Ben Moussa), Ozog 
(Sub. Cllr. Mote) and Sandhu.  

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

2 

 
The Chairman welcomed his guests Patricia Chapman (Dartford Tenant’s and 
Leaseholder’s Forum), Sue Braysher (DGS CCG) and Adam Wickings (West 
Kent CCG), and noted the presence of the Strategic Director (External 
Services), the Waste & Parks Manager, the Assist. Environmental Health 
Manager and the Council’s Scientific Officer to respond to Members’ 
questions and concerns.  
 
He also advised Members that he had spoken to the Leader of the Council 
concerning the future direction of the Committee’s work, given its 
responsibility to report to Cabinet [Min. No. 2 of 18 June 2019 refers]. The 
Leader had placed no restrictions on the Committee’s Work Plan or proposed 
any future areas of investigation.  
  
 

16. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Several Members gave details of relatives who worked within the NHS in 
differing capacities. 
 
None of the disclosures made constituted a pecuniary or prejudicial interest 
under Council Standing Orders [SO 19 and 20 refer]. 
  
 

17. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 18 JUNE 2019  
 
The Committee Co-ordinator confirmed that the Minutes of the Committee’s 
meeting held on 18 June 2019 were subsequently considered by Cabinet on 2 
September [Cabinet Min. No. 9 refers]. The issue of improved ‘sign-posting’ 
on the Council’s website for customers wishing to claim Universal Credit, 
particularly disadvantaged customers [POC Min. No. 9 refers], was being 
taken forward by the Strategic Director (Internal Services) in discussion with 
the Benefits Manager. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 18 
June 2019 be confirmed. 
 

18. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items for Members to consider. 
 

19. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
There were no references from other Committees for Members to consider. 
 

20. REGULATION 9 NOTICE  
 
  RESOLVED: 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

3 

 
1. That Members note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the 

period 9 August 2019 to 31 December 2019. 
 

21. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 18 JUNE 2019  
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

22. URGENT CARE SERVICES IN DARTFORD, GRAVESEND AND SWANLEY  
 
The report from the Strategic Director (External Services) brought to 
Members’ attention a consultation by the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), concerning the provision of urgent care 
services in the area.  A press release from the CCG which summarised the 
identified options for changes to existing services was attached at Appendix A 
to the report. The full consultation document and questionnaire was attached 
as Appendix B. The public consultation exercise would end on 4 November 
2019. 
 
Members were invited to consider both appendices, which set out the pros 
and cons for creating a new single Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC), to be 
situated in either Gravesham Community Hospital or Darent Valley Hospital 
and agree a formal response from the Council to the CCG.  
 
The Chairman proposed that discussion proceed on the assumption that 
Members had already read the report and appendices. He also noted that he 
and some other Members had already responded to the CCG consultation 
document on an individual basis. 
 
He opened the debate by stating his support for Darent Valley Hospital (DVH) 
to be chosen as the location for the new Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC), 
given its geographical location in the centre of the Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley CCG area, and close proximity to the A2. Location of the UTC at 
DVH would also help relieve existing pressures on the hospital’s adjacent 
A&E Department.  
 
In subsequent discussion, several Members expressed their dissatisfaction 
with the CCG consultation document [Appendix B to the report], which they 
felt was biased towards location of the proposed UTC at Gravesham 
Community Hospital (GCH) in terms of; ‘parking availability’, ‘ease of access 
by public transport’ and ‘ease of access on foot’ as detailed in pages 9 and 10 
of the report and summarised in the table on page 11 [agenda pages 31-33 
refer].  
 
Members made the following points in support of locating the new UTC at 
Darent Valley Hospital (DVH): 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

4 

 UTCs benefitted from co-location with existing A&E facilities which 
DVH already had, thus making a better combined package of care 
facilities for all DGS CCG residents; 

 DVH benefitted from a direct Fastrack service in terms of public 
transport; 

 DVH did need more vehicle parking (as did GCH), but proposals for a 
new multi-story car park were being pursued; 

 Dartford’s increasing population and house building operations added 
weight to the case for DVH to be the preferred option for a new UTC 
rather than GCH. 

 
The Strategic Director advised that, based on Member discussion, as 
confirmed in the approved Minutes of the meeting, Officers would compose a 
‘draft’ letter from the Chairman to the CCG confirming the Council’s formal 
response that the proposed new Urgent Treatment Centre be located at 
Darent Valley Hospital. 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the report and Appendices; 
 

2. That Members support the proposal that the new Urgent Treatment 
Centre for the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group be situated at Darent Valley Hospital. 

 
23. MENTAL HEALTH  

 
The Chairman renewed his welcome to his NHS guests and invited them to 
outline their roles and responsibilities for Members. 
 
Sue Braysher advised that the CCG had been increasingly focused on the 
move towards the creation of a single Kent and Medway CCG by April 2020 if 
the application to NHSE was successful. The new single CCG would be 
responsible for strategic commissioning across Kent & Medway which would 
include specialist Mental Health services. Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley 
Integrated Care Partnership will (from April 2021) be responsible for ensuring 
that Mental and Physical Health and Wellbeing services meet the needs of the 
population. 
 
Adam Wickings introduced himself as the Deputy Managing Director, West 
Kent CCG and the Senior Responsible Officer for Mental Health for Medway, 
North and West Kent CCGs. In that latter role, his responsibilities were 
focussed on ensuring that more CCG funding was spent on Mental Health 
care, and within that category, that a larger proportion of resources were 
devoted to Children’s Mental Health care. 
 
Members received a PowerPoint presentation from the Deputy MD entitled 
‘Children, Young People and Adult Mental Health strategic aims, key 
programmes of work and priority areas’, which covered four key areas: 
 
 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

5 

Kent Mental Health Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 Mental Health is defined as a state of well-being in which every 
individual realises his/her own potential, can cope with the normal 
stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to 
contribute to his/her community (World Health Organisation 2003); 

 Mental illnesses are as varied and distinct as physical illnesses, with a 
variety of causes and treatment. They typically group into two main 
types, Common Mental Illnesses (with a prevalence of 1 in 4 of the 
population) or Severe Mental Illness such as Psychosis (with a 
prevalence of 0.5-1 in 100 of the population); 

 50% of lifetime mental illness begins before the age of 14 (Kessler R, 
and Berglund P 2005); 

 75% of lifetime mental illness begins before the age of 24 (Kessler R, 
and Berglund P 2005); 

 Both poverty and exposure to ‘adverse childhood experiences’ (ACE) 
contribute and exacerbate a person’s mental health (state of mind) and 
can lead to mental illness (a clinically diagnosable condition that 
requires treatment); 

 Exposure to four or more ACE’s gives a person a 60% chance of 
having a mental illness that requires specialist treatment; 

 Social Isolation and loneliness also increase the likelihood of 
depression, multi-morbidity and use of adult acute mental health 
services; 

 There are a range of protective factors such as employment, education 
and social connectedness that can keep people well and improve their 
resilience. 
 

Five Year Forward View and Long Term Plan for Mental Health 
 

 Children and Young People (CYP) – 35% of CYP with a diagnosable 
mental health condition to access treatment each year by 2020/21; 

 CYP Eating Disorders – Community Eating Disorder teams for CYP to 
meet access and waiting time standards; 

 Early Intervention in Psychosis – Expand capacity so that 50% 
(moving to 60%) of people experiencing a first episode of psychosis 
start treatment within two weeks of referral with a NICE recommended 
package of care; 

 Crisis and Acute Care – 24/7 CRHTT’s (Crisis Resolution and Home 
Treatment Teams) as an alternative to acute inpatient admission, 
reduce the number of Out of Area Placements, use of All Age Liaison 
services; 

 Community Care – Increase access to Individual Placement Support, 
deliver integrated physical and mental health provision for people with 
SMI (Serious Mental Illness) in line with national ambition; 

 IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological Therapies) – Meet the IAPT 
access, recovery and waiting time standards, commission additional 
psychological therapies with the majority of the increase integrated 
with physical health; 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

6 

 Perinatal – Increase access to evidence-based specialist perinatal 
mental health care, commission additional or expanded specialist 
perinatal mental health community services; 

 Suicide Prevention – Develop plan to reduce suicides (against 
2016/17 levels) in line with national ambition to reduce suicides by 
10% by 2020/21. 

 
CYP Progress to date in Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley (DGS) 
 

 The CYP Local Transformation Plan across Kent & Medway funds 
services in DGS for young people to explore and better manage the 
thoughts and actions associated with self-harm, services that connect 
young LGBT+ people, and provides a safe space and educational 
resources in schools concerning good mental health; 

 Primary Care Mental Health and Wellbeing service in DGS supports 
people from age 16 to improve an individual’s mental and physical 
health and wellbeing through support, information and skills to build a 
healthy, independent life; 

 From March 2019 waiting times for first assessment to secondary care 
children’s mental health services, have continued to slowly improve 
despite rising demand. At present [September 2019] all emergency 
and urgent referrals are seen within the referral to treatment (RTT) 
standard target of 18 weeks; 

 North Kent (DGS and Swale) were successful in becoming one of only 
a few national trailblazers in developing Mental Health Schools 
Teams (MHSTs) to be operational from January 2020. The MHSTs 
will work directly in and with 32 schools across DGS and Swale; 

 50% of CYP (some 2,730 in DGS) with a diagnosable mental health 
condition accessed treatment in 2018/19, against a standard of 32%. 
Kent and Medway STP as a whole, achieved an access target of 
47.7%, placing Kent and Medway as the 5th best performing STP 
nationally. 

 
Adult Progress to Date 
 

 The CCGs and KMPT (Kent &Medway Partnership Trust) worked 
collectively to deliver an enhanced perinatal mental health service to 
ensure increased numbers of women accessed evidence based 
treatment. NHS England funded Mother and Baby Inpatient Units 
nationally, including one based in Dartford for residents in Kent and 
Medway and surrounding counties; 

 The Early Intervention in Psychosis access standard of 50% was being 
met, for service users referred with suspected first episode psychosis 
allocated to, and engaged with, an EIP care coordinator within 2 weeks 
of receipt of referral; 

 Kent and Medway have submitted a bid for national transition funding 
monies for additional workforce and training for Crisis Resolution Home 
Treatment teams, and four Safe Havens across Kent and Medway as 
an alternative to attending A&E and Core 24 (24/7) Liaison Psychiatry 
services at Darenth Valley Hospital (DVH) which currently ran a 8am to 
11pm service 7 days per week; 

Page 6Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

7 

 The all age Eating Disorder service was meeting the 95% standard for 
urgent referrals to have an initial specialist assessment undertaken, 
and appropriate treatment commenced within 7 days for both CYPs 
and adults; 

 North Kent Mind delivers nature-based interventions for people with 
mental health conditions, including through the North West Kent 
Countryside Partnership – Ecology Island in Dartford; 

 9 suicide and self-harm awareness courses had been held across DGS 
with over 100 participants. 

 
Key Developments 2019-2021 
 

 Medway, North and West Kent have agreed an Aligned Incentive 
Contract (AIC) with Kent and Medway Partnership Trust (KMPT). An 
AIC is an alternate contracting and payment mechanism that provides 
an opportunity for partners to agree a shared agenda to make progress 
in key areas. 

 The AIC approach promotes collaboration and transparent working and 
prepares the way for both an Integrated Care System which 
incentivises activity and reduces costs across the system as a whole. It 
also prepares for an Integrated Provider System, supporting providers 
to collectively develop and implement local visions of prevention, and 
out of hospital care with a focus on primary and community based 
provision. 

 The AIC approach is being explored with other mental health provider 
contracts such as NELFT (North East London Foundation Trust) for 
children and young people’s services. 

 Each CCG had to meet the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) 
by which their 2018/19 investment in mental health services rises at a 
faster rate than their overall programme funding. To enable CCGs to 
develop key priorities during the next 1-2 year period, four programmes 
of work had been identified, each with a Head of Commissioning and 
Clinical Lead, to  drive forward those changes across West and North 
Kent as follows: 

 (1) Children and Young People – continued increase in perinatal 
provision locally, consistent approach to accessing services across 
Medway, North and West Kent, continued collaborative work with key 
health, social care and voluntary sector partners to implement the CYP 
Local Transformation Plan; 

 (2) Local Care – better integrate mental health within local care 
initiatives across Medway, North and West Kent and strengthen clinical 
support to patients, including focus on increasing number of physical 
health checks for people with serious mental illness, in line with 
national standards. Improve pathway between primary and secondary 
health services, to enable mental health to be at the forefront of local 
integrated health and social care multi-disciplinary teams, providing 
person-centred multi-disciplined care; 

 (3) Crisis Care –develop consistent approach to a crisis care pathway 
across Medway, North and West Kent, including a focus on the role of 
Liaison Psychiatry in both acute and community fields, 24/7 CRHTTs in 
line with national fidelity staffing scales, development of Safe Havens 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

8 

as alternative to A&E treatment, working with STP to identify and 
resolving challenges related to Section 136; 

 (4) Dementia and Older Adults - review existing pathways between 
primary and secondary care to develop a pathway to enable the 
dementia diagnosis rate across Medway, North and West Kent to move 
in line with 67% national standard.  

 Proposed changes to Acute Adult Mental Health services across Kent 
and Medway to include a redesign of clinical care pathways, and re-
location of older adult inpatient wards to existing modernised  inpatient 
facilities; 

 Development of a Community Dementia Intensive Support service 
across Kent and Medway; 

 Development of an updated IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological 
Therapies) services model to better enable local services to integrate 
with physical health services, and collectively meet the needs of people 
with anxiety and depression and long term conditions. 

 
In response to specific questions from Members, the Deputy MD West Kent 
CCG and the DGS ICP Programme Director confirmed the following points: 
 

 There was no evidence of a direct connection between air pollution and 
mental health conditions, but the subject remained part of the national 
NHS discussion on overall ill-health; 

 Work was being undertaken by CAMHS (Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services) and NELFT providers to develop a better co-ordinated 
all years pathway of services for mental health patients, from childhood 
to adulthood, including addressing the effects of autism in children, 
young people and adults; 

 The development of Safe Havens across Kent and Medway for patients 
in need of crisis care would, in time, relieve the current burden on 
hospital A&E facilities and the strain on police resources dealing with 
patients in the community; 

 The new ‘Canada’ model 111 telephone service was now staffed by 
expert clinicians on call 24/7 and connected to all PCNs (Primary Care 
Networks) across Kent and Medway to provide the public and patients 
with an enhanced level of service, including dealing with mental health 
issues; 

 IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological Therapies) service in Kent 
and Medway formed part of the drive to spend more on mental health 
treatment across the county. A principal aim was to provide increased 
levels of spending and care provision by CAMHS and NEFLT providers 
in the primary care environment; rather than the previous NHS policy of 
prolonged treatment in the secondary care environment; which often 
came too late to enable patients to recover fully; 

 Better and increased interface with schools aimed at early diagnosis, 
was a key element of IAPT services for children and young adults. The 
avoidance of medication as the sole or even primary care path for such 
young people suffering from mental health issues was another crucial 
factor in treatment; 

 IAPT services offered practitioners a more diverse NHS career path, 
and enabled CCGs and Trusts to develop a more diverse work force. 

Page 8Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

9 

The challenge for the latter bodies was the retention of such staff in the 
long-term, and every effort was made to do so, including at Darent 
Valley Hospital (DVH). 

 
The Chairman thanked his NHS guests for a comprehensive presentation and 
for responding to Members questions on mental health issues and the current 
themes being developed by CCGs and Trusts across Kent to improve and 
increase service provision to patients suffering from mental health issues. 
 

24. ILLEGAL DUMPING, ENFORCEMENT AND HOUSEHOLD WASTE 
RECYCLING CENTRES  
 
The joint report from the Waste & Parks and Enforcement & Regulatory 
Services Managers, updated Members regarding the level of illegal dumping 
and fly tipping in Dartford, the enforcement measures being taken against 
offenders, and the policy changes at Kent County Council’s Household Waste 
Recycling Centres (HWRCs). Appendix A to the report comprised a table 
setting out reported incidences of illegal dumping/fly tipping on a monthly 
basis for the years 2015/16 to 2019/20 [to date]. 
 
The Chairman advised Members that he had requested the report to enable 
the Committee to focus on how the Council was meeting these continuing 
challenges common to all local authorities in Kent. He stressed that his 
request for an update report did not imply any criticism of Council Officers or 
the existing measures being taken to address these core issues. He made no 
judgement that the Council’s efforts to address illegal dumping were better or 
worse than those of neighbouring Kent Boroughs.  
 
That said, he wanted Dartford to be known as the best local authority in Kent 
for the successful removal of fly tipping and illegally dumped waste, and for 
the successful prosecution and fining of those committing such offences. To 
that end, his aim was to identify further positive measures which the Council 
could adopt to achieve that goal. The presence of the Cabinet Portfolio Holder 
for Waste & Environment on the Committee would provide Members with 
additional expertise, in addition to a voice within Cabinet to add weight to any 
recommendations the Committee might resolve to put to the administration for 
consideration. 
 
At the Chairman’s request, Members had received pictures of recent illegally 
dumped waste on the verges of some of the main arterial routes in Dartford. 
The Chairman proposed that the successful removal of such illegal dumping 
be publicised on the Council’s website (as it was in local papers), to help raise 
the Council’s profile in successfully tackling the issue. He also advocated the 
increased use of press releases by the Council, to make the public better 
aware of ‘success stories’ where such fly tipping had been removed and 
offenders prosecuted and fined. 
 
The Waste & Parks Manager advised Members that the Council website 
provided statistics on illegal dumping in the Borough, it also asked the public 
to help in reporting those incidents, and provided details of the Fixed Penalty 
Notice (FPN) fining regime in force for illegal dumping offences, including 

Page 9 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

10 

fining the public for using illegal waste carriers. He assured Members that the 
Council took every opportunity to publicise the details of successful 
prosecutions against illegal dumping and fly tipping, including ‘naming and 
shaming’ offenders in Council press releases, when they were convicted by 
the courts. 
 
The following principal points were confirmed by the Waste & Parks Manager 
in further discussion with Members:  
 

 The number of prosecutions brought by the Council in the courts for 
illegal dumping, as a percentage figure of the total number of FPNs 
issued, was not known by the Waste & Parks Manager. However, 
given the higher degree of proof required by the Council to bring a 
court prosecution, FPNs remained the most frequently used and 
effective Council deterrent to combat illegal dumping and fly tipping; 

 The Council used covert CCTV cameras at known fly-tipping hotspots 
and some re-cycling centres, and it was proposed to extend the use of 
CCTV cameras across the borough, to aid court prosecutions and the 
issue of FPNs; 

 KCC’s new charges and restrictions at household waste recycling 
centres (HWRCs), for quantities of some household and other waste, 
had been raised by the Council with the County authority. In particular, 
the public’s stated belief that the new KCC charges and restrictions 
had led to an increase in illegal dumping and fly tipping. KCC had 
rejected the theory that the two issues were directly connected, and 
there was (as yet) no empirical evidence that KCC’s new charging 
policies at HWRCs had led directly to increased levels of illegal 
dumping in the borough, although it was possible that the two issues 
were not unrelated [report para 3.8 agenda p.44 refers]; 

 Better signage at HWRCs concerning the new charges and height 
restrictions for vehicles, allied to the re-arrangement of existing re-
cycling banks at HWRCs, could help prevent impromptu fly tipping by 
disappointed/disaffected customers. Advertising the boundaries 
covered by existing HWRCs to the public could also help to positively 
impact on the actions of potential fly tippers; 

 The arrangement between Parishes and the Council, whereby Parish 
authorities initially collected dumped articles, for eventual removal by 
the Council contractor, continued to operate successfully; 

 The data published by the Council for collection of illegally dumped 
waste only related to waste identified as the Council’s responsibility for 
removal. The actual level of illegal dumping and fly tipping in the 
borough was higher, but fell outside the Council’s responsibility e.g. on 
privately owned land; 

 The Council had undertaken boundary fencing of open land adjacent to 
arterial routes to prevent fly tipping, where the land in question was 
owned by the Council. However, supervision of slip roads, hard 
shoulder and grass verge access to the vast majority of such land was 
the responsibility of KCC and Highways England. 
 

In response to further specific proposals and questions from the Chairman, 
the Strategic Director (External Services) gave the following responses: 

Page 10Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

11 

 

 A free collection service by the Council of larger household articles [not 
accepted by HWRCs] on a trial basis would have financial implications 
and would need to be explored through the normal annual budget 
process; 

 Activation of the Community Trigger mechanism [to combat 
repeated/exceptional instances of fly tipping], was a matter for the 
partner agencies of the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP), not the Committee. Moreover, if illegal dumping 
was cleared, the Community Trigger mechanism ceased to apply; 

 On a positive note, the Council were in discussions with KCC to give 
DBC Park Rangers Waste Carrier Licences, to enable them to remove 
smaller items illegally dumped in Dartford’s parks; 

 The Council had a number of CCTV cameras at fly tipping hotspots 
and HWRCs including mobile, fixed and covert cameras. The location 
of the CCTV cameras could not be divulged for operational reasons, 
but the public were made aware of their existence in general terms, via 
warning signage. 

 
The Chairman thanked the Strategic Director (External Services) and the 
Waste & Parks Manager for their comprehensive responses to Members 
questions and expression of concern, which he summarised in the following 
bullet points for consideration and appropriate action by Cabinet: 
 

 Increased use of Council press releases and twitter feed direct to 
Councillors, for re-tweeting and distribution to their constituents  to 
heighten the impact and public awareness of Council ‘success stories’ 
in combatting fly tipping, illegal dumping and the prosecution of 
offenders; 

 Councillors to be given case studies of successful fly tipping 
prosecutions; 

 To secure Waste Carrier Licences for DBC Park Rangers from KCC; 

 That new charges and restrictions by KCC at HWRCs be accepted, 
and that the Council take measures to better educate residents to 
these new measures which, at present, were not seen as a root cause 
for the increase in fly tipping and illegal dumping in the borough; 

 That the Waste & Parks Team and the Council’s Enforcement and 
Regulatory Services Teams be congratulated on their efforts to date; 

 That Cabinet consider what other measures the Council might take to 
further combat fly tipping and illegal dumping in the borough and 
secure a higher rate of successful prosecutions against offenders. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the report; 
 

2. That Cabinet note the ongoing concerns of the Committee, as 
summarised by the Chairman in his comments minuted above; 
 

Page 11 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

12 

3. That Councillor Edie’s view that; new KCC charges and restrictions at 
HWRCs have led to a rise in fly tipping and illegal dumping in the 
borough; be recorded in the Minutes.  
 

 
25. AIR QUALITY ANNUAL STATUS REPORT 2019  

 
The covering report, written jointly by the Council’s Assistant Environmental 
Health Manager and the Council’s Scientific Offer, enclosed at Appendix A the 
Council’s Air Quality Annual Status Report for 2019.  
 
Members were asked to note the contents of both documents prior to 
submission of the 2019 Air Quality Report to the Department for the 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) in fulfilment of Part IV of the 
Environment Act 1995 for Local Air Quality Management to: 
 

 Report progress on the implementation of measures in the local air 
quality action plan and other measures and their impact in reducing 
concentrations below air quality objectives to; 

 Provide a summary of monitoring/modelling data in order to process 
the air quality situation in the area and likelihood of air quality 
breaches.  

 
The Chairman proposed that discussion proceed on the basis that all 
Members had read both the covering report and the substantive 2019 Annual 
Report at Appendix A. 
 
In response to subsequent questions from Members, the Strategic Director 
(External Services) and the report authors confirmed the following points for 
the Committee: 
 

 Air pollution in Dartford had increased in 2018 over levels recorded for 
2017. It was believed that this was due primarily to adverse weather 
conditions, in particular an increase in Easterly wind strengths on the 
western side of the A242, in contrast to the Westerly prevailing winds 
of previous years; 

 The 2018 increase in air pollution levels in Dartford had not been 
replicated Kent-wide, and the exact causes (other than changes in 
wind direction) for an increase was unknown. However, an increase in 
air pollution in 1 year (2018) should be viewed in the context of 
previous years: it did not mean that air pollution in Dartford was on an 
upward trend; 

 Improvements in vehicle technology have resulted in a reduction in 
emissions from individual vehicles however, due to Dartford’s 
increasing population associated air quality benefits have not been as 
rapid as hoped. Ownership of electrical vehicles is increasing, despite 
only 1% of new vehicle registrations being electrical. It has been 
predicted that the tipping point for the uptake of electrical vehicles will 
be 2022 at which point, they will be cheaper to own and the demand 
for them increase significantly. The price of the Westgate charging 
points relative to elsewhere was not known; 

Page 12Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

13 

 The imposition of 20 m.p.h. speed zones for cars held both benefits 
and draw-backs. Emissions may be greater from a vehicle travelling at 
20 m.p.h. compared to one driven at 30 m.p.h. however, depending on 
the local traffic conditions, a 20 m.p.h. speed limit could result in 
smoother flowing less stop-start traffic, which could result in an overall 
reduction of emissions; 

 The potential parking arrangements for HGVs in the car park of 
Ebbsfleet International station [post Brexit] for vehicle and customs 
checks, was imposed by central Government under Statutory 
Instrument on 6 September 2019. The Council had been consulted 
and had registered a strong objection to the HMRC and DoT proposed 
scheme, which would utilise existing ‘hard standing’ at Ebbsfleet 
station. The Council’s response had included objection to overnight 
movement and parking of HGVs at Ebbsfleet, and the idling of engines 
by HGV operatives during any stays or inspection processes; 

  The current Air Quality Action Plans (AQAPs) for Dartford had been 
produced in 2001 and 2009 and were no longer considered ‘fit for 
purpose’. Defra now recommended an evidenced based approach in 
drawing-up AQAPs, based on the identification of pollutants and 
actions to be taken to combat them. The Council had no ‘in-house’ 
capability to produce a new AQAP and a consultant had been 
commissioned to write one for Dartford based on AQA assessments. 
The Council were committed to producing a new AQAP for Dartford for 
presentation to Cabinet as soon as possible; 

 The Council was required to publish a new Taxi and Private-Hire 
Vehicle policy. The age of taxis and private-hire vehicles had been 
lowered to enable current owners the opportunity to replace their 
vehicles after the new licensing policy was published, rather than 
having to do so before the requirements of the new policy were known; 

 The Council was aware of the detrimental effects that M25, A2 and 
Bluewater traffic had on Dartford, in terms of levels of air pollution, but 
had limited control over these traffic flows, which fell to Highways 
England to administer. A new Air Quality Action Plan would give the 
Council ammunition to go back to central government and other 
stakeholders, to institute evidence-based measures to combat air 
pollution in the Borough. Funding for the new Action Plan was ring-
fenced in 2020 with a new Plan expected to take 12-18 months to 
complete. 

 
The Chairman thanked Officers for their report and responses to Members 
questions, welcomed in particular the charts on sources of and monthly levels 
of pollution, and noted the long-term reductions in air pollution levels in 
Dartford with the exception of 2018. He hoped that a new Air Quality Action 
Plan would be completed as soon as possible for use with central government 
and other stake holders to aid the Council in their efforts to continue to 
improve air quality in Dartford. 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the report and the 2019 Air Quality 
Annual Status Report attached as Appendix A to the report; 

Page 13 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

14 

2. That Members welcome the Council’s proposals to commission a new 
Air Quality Action Plan for Dartford to be completed and implemented 
as soon as possible.   

 
26. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

MONITORING REPORT, QUARTER 1 OF THE 2019/20 MUNICIPAL YEAR  
 
   

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the report. 
 

27. COMMITTEE ROLLING WORK PLAN 2019/20 AND BEYOND  
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the Committee’s revised rolling Work Plan for 
2019-20 as attached at Appendix B to the report; 
 

2. That Members receive a further specific presentation from the West 
Kent CCG’s CAMHS (Child & Adolescent Mental Health) team on their 
Dartford operation in March 2020, and that the Work Plan be amended 
accordingly; 
 

3. That the Committee note that it would now receive the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects (DPHP) Annual Report 2018-2019 in 
March 2020 rather than December 2019 [Min. No. 35 refers]. 
  

 
 

The meeting closed at 9.35 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor M J Davis 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 
 

Page 14Agenda Item 3



15 January 2020 - 31 May 2020 
 

1 of 2 

 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE 
 
This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly. 
 
All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively. 
 
Cabinet Members: 
 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Housing 
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Youth, Health & Wellbeing 
Councillor S H Brown, Portfolio: Waste & Environment 
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Finance 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Arts & Culture 
Councillor R J Wells, Portfolio: Community Safety 
 
All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk. 
 
This notice supersedes all previous notices. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 6

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


 

2 of 2 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Co-Op Site Development 
 
To update members on progress 
with the Co-Op development, 
including the health hub, and to 
present options to Members to 
ensure the scheme remains viable. 
 

Cabinet 
5 Mar 2020 
 

  
 

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 
Tel: 01322 343632 
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

Write-Off of National Non-
Domestic Rates 
 
To consider writing-off National Non-
Domestic Rates debts where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment 
because of insolvency, because the 
ratepayer cannot be traced or where 
the debt is otherwise irrecoverable.  
 

Cabinet 
5 Mar 2020 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Business Rates 
Manager 
Tel: 01732 227041 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended). 

P
age 16

A
genda Item

 6



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
28 January 2020 

 

ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 10 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

1. Summary 

 

1.1   To review the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 
10 September 2019 and to consider whether any item should be referred to the 
next meeting for more detailed discussion. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 10 

September 2019, together with details of previous outstanding actions be 
noted; 

2.2    That Members consider whether any item requires a report to be submitted to 
the next or subsequent meeting of the Committee for more detailed discussion. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. List of Action Points 

No. Item Responsible Officer 

1 RELATE Medway & North Kent: Members resolved 
on 18 June 2019 [Min. No 8 refers] that the Vice-
Chairman would update Members following her 
attendance at any future meetings of RELATE in her 
role as the Council’s nominated representative. 

Vice-Chairman 

2 Dartford Preventative Health Projects (DPHP) 
Annual Report 2018-19: Members resolved to 
receive this report at their meeting in March 2020 
[Min. No 27 refers]. The Committee’s Work Plan has 
been updated accordingly. 

Sheri Green/Kashmir 
Powar 

3 Recycling Service: Members had resolved to receive 
a report from the Waste and Parks Manger at their 
scheduled meeting on 10 December 2019 [Min. No 27 
refers]. A report will now be submitted to the 
Committee on 28 January 2020 as per the revised 
Work Plan.    

Dave Thomas 

4 Anti-Litter Service:  Members had resolved to 
receive a report from the Waste and Parks Manger at 
their scheduled meeting on 10 December 2019 [Min. 
No 27 refers]. A report will now be submitted to the 
Committee on 28 January 2020 as per the revised 
Work Plan.    

Dave Thomas 

5 Child & Adolescent Mental Health Service 
(CAMHS): Members resolved to receive a 
presentation from West Kent CCG’s CAHMS team at 
their meeting in March 2020 [Min. No 27 refers] as per 
the revised Work Plan. 

Sheri 
Green/Committee 
Clerk 

Page 17 Agenda Item 7



 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
28 January 2020 

 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrate improvements. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None  

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
Not applicable. 
 

7. Appendices 
 
None. 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
10 September 2019 
Agenda reports and 
Minutes  

 David Hook 
(01322) 343276 

Democratic  
Services - 
Strategic Director 
(Internal) 

N/A 

 

Page 18Agenda Item 7



                              

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
28 JANUARY 2020 

 

THE LITTER SERVICE 

 

 
1. Summary 

 

1.1 To advise and update Members regarding the Council’s litter service and related 
matters. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That Members consider the contents of this report. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. The Council is a Principle Litter Authority (PLA) under s89 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. The Act places a duty on PLAs to 
keep the adopted public highway and land under their control clean as 
far as is reasonably practical. 

3.2. The Council has a full schedule for the cleaning of all publically adopted 
roads across the borough. Residential roads are cleaned four weekly, 
main roads are cleaned fortnightly, town centres (Dartford, Longfield and 
Swanscombe) are cleaned daily. Certain high speed roads (such as Bob 
Dunn Way) require full traffic management and part or full road closures 
in order for them to be worked on safely. 

3.3. Street cleaning works are included in the Waste Collection and Street 
Cleaning contract 2019 – 2024 held by Urbaser Ltd. 

3.4. The contract also includes for the adhoc removal of illegal dumping/ fly 
tipping and the scheduled emptying of litter and dog bins, which are 
emptied between weekly and daily according to need. 

3.5. Street cleaning is the removal of litter and detritus (gravel, silt, leaves, 
etc.) as required, by manual and mechanical means according to need. 
The contract requires Urbaser to carry out cleansing works where 
necessary only (i.e. if a road is already clean move onto another road 
that is not). 

3.6. The Council is not responsible for cleaning the M25/A282 or the A2, 
including all the associated on and off slip roads. These roads are the 
responsibility of Highways England. 

3.7. The Council now has approx. 400 litterbins and 350 dog bins across the 
borough having provided approx. 50 new bins over the past year. Many 
more litter and dog bins are also provided by Parish/Town Councils and 
developers/management companies. 

3.8. Urbaser employ one “hit squad” to remove small scale dumping such as 
white goods, settees, mattresses, etc. Current response time for removal 

Page 19 Agenda Item 8



                              

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
28 JANUARY 2020 

 
is two working days. A grab lorry is hired in when necessary to deal with 
large scale dumping, such as lorry loads of rubble. 

3.9. Contracted street cleaning is supplemented by the Council’s facilitation 
of litter picking by volunteer groups and individuals. The Council provides 
the equipment that is needed by the volunteers (usually sticks, sacks, 
gloves, rings, hi-vis, etc.) and collects sacks when full. There are over a 
dozen active volunteer groups in the borough, a number of which are 
particularly active and contribute greatly to the cleanliness of their 
localities. 

3.10. The Council’s Environmental Enforcement Team has a good record of 
proactively investigating incidents of fly tipping with subsequent legal 
action. The Council has a contract with Kingdom for the issuing of litter 
Fixed Penalty Notices against people who drop litter. In addition to the 
work carried out by Kingdom, over the course of 2019, the Enforcement 
Team carried out over 500 investigations which resulted in  62 litter 
tickets, 45 fly tipping tickets and 86 warnings being issued, as well as 13 
prosecutions being held in court. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

There are two relevant Strategic Objectives stated in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan: 
 
ET4 – Ensure a high quality street scene 
PS1 – Deliver high quality services 

 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications The Council will spend approx. £960,000 on 
street cleaning activities during 2019/2020. 

Legal Implications 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Council has a duty to ensure that the public 
highway and other land that is under its control 
that is open to the public is kept reasonably clean 
and free of litter as far as is practicable. 

 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

Page 20Agenda Item 8



                              

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
28 JANUARY 2020 

 
 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
 

7. Appendices 
 

None 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
  Dave Thomas 

(01322) 34273 
 

Waste and 
Parks, 
Strategic 
(External) 
 
 

N/A 

 

Page 21 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



                              

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
28 JANUARY 2020 

 

THE RECYCLING SERVICE 

 

 
1. Summary 

 

1.1 To advise and update Members on various recycling issues.  

 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That Members consider the contents of this report. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. The Council is a Waste Collection Authority (WCA) under s30 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. All WCAs are required to take steps 
to recycle some of the waste they collect under the Household Waste 
Recycling Act 2003. The Government has set a national recycling target 
of 50% by 2020 and national recycling performance currently averages 
out at about 45%. There are no rewards or penalties on WCAs for their 
individual performance. 

3.2. The Council provides a fortnightly kerbside collection service for 
recyclables, as well as various recycling banks at various sites across 
the borough. The Council also collects green garden waste for 
composting (which is counted as a form of recycling).  

3.3. The following mixed materials can be collected for recycling via the 
Council’s kerbside collection service – paper (newspapers, magazines, 
leaflets, junk mail, printer paper, etc.), cardboard (cereal boxes, toilet 
rolls, egg boxes, corrugated card, etc.), cans (fizzy drinks, soup, pet 
food, deodorants, etc.) and plastics (milk bottles, fizzy drink bottles, 
yoghurt pots, margarine tubs, fruit punnets, etc.). Glass bottles and jars 
can also be collected (but not mixed with the other materials). 

3.4. There are various recycling banks at the Council’s recycling sites, mainly 
for glass and textiles, but there are also some banks for other materials 
such as paper, cans and books. 

3.5. The following items can be collected for composting via the Council’s 
Garden Waste collection service – grass cuttings, leaves, twigs, fallen 
fruit, fruit and vegetable peelings. 

3.6. In 2018/19, the Council collected 6,370 tonnes of mixed recyclables, 
1,350 tonnes of glass, 1,910 tonnes of green / garden waste and 680 
tonnes of other recyclables via recycling banks. This equates to a 
recycling rate of about 25%. Tonnages and performance in 2019/20 will 
be about the same. 

Page 23 Agenda Item 9



                              

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
28 JANUARY 2020 

 
3.7. The majority of the other general waste collected is sent for incineration 

to generate electricity at an “Energy from Waste” plant at Allington, 
Maidstone. Less than 1% of the overall waste collected is sent to landfill. 

3.8. The majority of mixed recyclables collected are taken to the Viridor 
Materials Recycling Facility at Crayford for sorting and are then sent on 
to various other facilities for reprocessing. About 10% of what is collected 
is non-recyclable contaminants. Green waste is taken to a composting 
facility at Swanley. Full audit trails are held by Kent County Council for 
all recycling streams. The Kent Resource Partnership publishes an 
annual document entitled “End Destinations of Recycling” for all Kent 
WCAs. The Council has no control or responsibility over to where or 
whom recyclables are ultimately delivered. 

3.9. The majority response to the Council’s third Big Bin Vote was that 
residents were happy with the current waste services offered. The 
Council’s contract with Urbaser currently runs from 2019 to 2024. There 
are currently no plans to change any of the Council’s waste services 
provided under this contract. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Strategic Objectives ET3 in the Council’s Corporate Plan is to minimise 
the amount of waste going to landfill. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications None. 

Legal Implications 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

None. 

 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 

Page 24Agenda Item 9



                              

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
28 JANUARY 2020 

 
 
 
  
 

7. Appendices 
 

None 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
  Dave Thomas 

(01322) 34273 
 

Waste and 
Parks, 
Strategic 
(External) 
 
 

N/A 

 

Page 25 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



CABINET 
5 DECEMBER 2019 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
28 January 2020 

 

 
 
CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT 

 

 
1. Summary 
 

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 2 of 2019/20. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1  That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.  

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly of 

the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan delivers 
the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through the 
following five themes: 

 Economic Development and Regeneration 

 Health and Wellbeing 

 Safer Communities 

 Environment and Sustainability 

 Housing and Stronger Communities 

 
3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself: 

 

 A Council Performing Strongly 
 

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the Council 
wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating to the 
Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of the 
Borough. 
 

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the second quarter of 
2019/20. 
 

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have targets 
assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators 
may report annually, and these have been identified in the report. 
 

Page 27 Agenda Item 10



CABINET 
5 DECEMBER 2019 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
28 January 2020 

 

 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 

Indicators. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 

 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report 
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Corporate Plan 2017-20  Sarah Williamson 

(01322) 343470 
Policy and 
Corporate 
Support 
 
Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services) 

N/A 

 

Page 28Agenda Item 10



1 

APPENDIX A 
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20 

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q2 2019/20 
 

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities 

 

Key Action Q2 Update 

Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing 

Full permission on Phases 1 and 3b now secured and construction is progressing on-
site. 
 

Phases 2 and 3a approved in principle at DC Board November 2019, subject to a 
S106 Agreement. 
 

Planning application for the Vauxhall Farm approved in principle at DC Board 
November 2019, subject to a S106 Agreement. 

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site 
Regular meetings are taking place with the developer. The planning application is 
expected to be submitted in early 2020. 

Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot 

Works on Market St commenced in May and are well underway.  There has been 
some delay to completion due to Thames Water works, with completion now 
expected June 2020. High St scheme currently being designed. Construction to take 
place from January to June 2020. Design for Phase 2 of the project covering 
junctions at Lowfield St/Instone Rd, Instone Rd/Highfield Rd, Highfield Rd/West Hill 
currently being designed with construction to take place from April to September 
2020. Improvements to Hythe St are currently planned to take place between 
September 2020 and March 2021, followed by works to the Hythe St/Westgate Rd 
junction.    

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square 

Works on Market St commenced in May 2019. Work is to be carried out in two parts 
on the highway, with a permanent new road currently being constructed on the south 
side whilst a temporary road has been made on the other half and this is now in use.   
There has been some delay due to Thames Water works. The scheme is now 
expected to be complete by June 2020. 

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes 

1,088 homes delivered in Dartford part of EDC area to April 2019. A further 6,436 
homes have outline or reserved matters consent, 5,511 at Eastern Quarry, 602 at 
Ebbsfleet Green, 103 at Craylands Lane and 220 at the Croxton and Garry site. 
There is also an outline planning consent for up to 2,320 homes at Ebbfleet Central - 
this is likely to be revisited. 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 10



2 

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 
system and its extension to the new developments 

Eastern route out of Ingress Park now operational, providing full access to the service 
through the development. Funding secured for Fastrack tunnel link to Bluewater. 
Works to commence in spring 2020 and complete in 2021, to tie in with link from 
Ebbsfleet, through Eastern Quarry to Bluewater which is due to open in September 
2021. 
 
London Rd/St Clements Way new dedicated Fastrack lane completed Spring 2019. 
 
A Fastrack Advisory Board has been set up with a view to supporting the ongoing 
improvement and delivery of the Fastrack service. 

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces 

Works are continuing on the Acacia site; Darent Suite and Building D refurbishments 
are well under way. Most site services routed. Approvals from EA and KCC are 
delayed but anticipated shortly with demolition pencilled in for November. 
 
 

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford 

We have now revised the website for the Dartford Business Awards and continue to 
work with Kent Growth Hub who are also promoting business opportunities in 
Dartford. 

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition 
The 3rd Dartford Business Awards took place on 19 September 2019 and was a 
great success with over 350 people attending from firms across Dartford. 

Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience 

We continue to work with Planning to support the implementation of the Town Centre 
regeneration works. We also submitted a successful application to the Future High 
Street Fund and are currently bidding for funds to underpin development projects in 
the town. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 10



3 

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life 

 

Key Action Q2 Update 

Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities 

The new rugby facility has been completed and handed over to the tenant.  
 

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces 

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 2, 14 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 104. 
Attendees were 56. 
 

There are currently 7 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 2, 82 Health Walk 
sessions ran. The number of attendances were 689. Attendees were 314. There were 
13 new people that joined the walks. 
 

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough. In quarter 2, 34 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 345. 
Attendees were 132. 
 

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 30+. In quarter 2, 15 people engaged on the programme. 6 
people completed the course and 2 of these achieved a weight loss of >5%. 
 

Don’t Sit Get Fit consists of providing support to targeted schools throughout the year 
in relation to the Health Weight Agenda. The new Pilot programme works in 
partnership with KCHFT and Public Health School nursing team and started in 
quarter 2 where over two primary schools, 29 adults and 50 children were on the 
programme. 
 

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events. 
 

Healthy Workplaces is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend. In quarter 2, 
they were working with 3 organisations in Dartford: Wellbeing Link, Sainsbury’s and 
Dartford Borough Council. 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 10



4 

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes 

In quarter 2, there were 2 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme, 
totalling £1,900. The Community Grant Scheme is currently being worked on for 
launch in the near future. 

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer 
The positive relationship with PfP continues. With PfP and the Council, we are 
investigating potential opportunities to increase the carpark at Fairfield (awaiting final 
draft of the feasibility study) and installation of CHP. 

Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre 

Exhibitions by Dartford Art Network and Dartford & District Photographic Society have 
taken place. 
 

The Council continues to wait for the outcome of a joint bid, with Gravesham and the 
EDC, for a major arts programme across the area. 
 

A Service Level Agreement is being developed with What If (Community) Ltd for the 
development of arts projects across the Borough. 
 

Discussions have taken place with the Arts Council about Dartford’s role in the 
Thames Gateway Production Corridor. 

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year 

Dartford Festival was extremely successful with over 30,000 people attending over 
the weekend. 
 

All three Cinema in the Park events have taken place and were extremely well 
attended.  
 

All three Theatre in the Park events have now taken place, with over 400 people 
attending each performance. 

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments 

Ongoing provision of new green spaces as part of build out of major sites, including 
Eastern Quarry, Ebbsfleet Green, The Bridge, St Clements Lakes, Northern Gateway 
East and Mill Pond. Laying out of open space as children’s play area at top end of 
Phoenix Quarter (Temple Hill Road) has been agreed with developer and work is now 
to commence. Stone Lodge to provide improved and more useable green space. 
 

Further green space provision will be planned as new planning applications come 
forward. 
 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 10



5 

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site 

Meetings are continuing with the CCG to discuss funding for the health hub as part of 
the Co-op development. Discussions between the CCG and the developer of the Co-
op site are taking place to finalise the designs for the health hub. 

 

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES 
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise 

 

Key Action Q2 Update 

Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others 

This initiative continues and the CSU, Housing and EH utilise these tools to good 
effect. In the year 2018/19, 316 Community Protection Warning letters were issued 
and 67 Community Protection Notices were issued. 

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour 

Successful funding bids have been granted by the PCC to bolster CCTV capability 
and DTAC towards reducing ASB. Community Protection Warning letters are still 
being used to ban trouble makers and shoplifters from the town centre. In partnership 
with Kent Crimestoppers, the 'Kent's Most Wanted' initiative was launched on 2 digital 
screens in the Orchards Shopping Centre. This shows images of Kent's most wanted 
criminals amongst normal advertisements. This project is the first of its kind in the UK 
and, following the launch on 25 June 2019, 2 arrests have been made to date. 
Further training about the use of CPW/N's took place at the Council in September 
2019.  

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety 

100% of Dartford high premises due have been inspected as of 5 November 2019. 
96% of businesses in Dartford are broadly compliant with food hygiene regulation. 
(rating of 3 or above). 

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol 

The excellent relationship with Council licensing officers and Kent Police continues to 
flourish and there have been some very good results in terms of joint advice and 
enforcement activity in the town's pubs and clubs. There has also been very 
innovative and ground breaking training in safeguarding and counter terrorism for taxi 
and private hire drivers which has stimulated interest from other councils across the 
country. 
 

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford 

Dartford Borough Council licensing have consolidated the innovative, unique trend in 
introducing a series of workshops in partnership with Kent Fire and Rescue and Kent 

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 10



6 

Police. This involves bespoke training in safeguarding, counter terrorism, relevant 
legislation and road safety measures. The scheme is ground breaking and still 
proving to be very successful. 

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public 

DTAC is recognised as being one of the best business crime partnerships in the 
country. The initiative to introduce Community Protection Warnings instead of 
banning notices has been successful and the implementation of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order in the Town and Central Park areas seeks to reduce ASB 
particularly excess drinking in public places. Following the departure of the DTAC 
Intelligence Manager, this post was recruited to in April 2019. The new DTAC 
Intelligence Manager is doing an excellent job. The 'Kent's Most Wanted' initiative in 
the Orchards Centre in partnership with Kent Crimestoppers is proving very 
successful. 

 

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel 
 

Key Action Q2 Update 

Procure a new waste collection contract New contractor (Urbaser) took over from Amey on 1 July 2019. 

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking 

Under contract, DBC instructed Kingdom Security (now known as LA Support Ltd) to 
act as our enforcement capability for litter and dog fouling in January 2016. Since 
then and up until the end of August 2019 11,435 fixed penalty notices (FPN) have 
been issued to offenders in the borough. 
 

DBC, having led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN, still remain one of 
very few local authorities within Kent to have introduced this. A report will go to 
Cabinet in October 2019 seeking to expand the powers of local authority support 
officers to include offences of fly tipping, fly posting, graffiti and commercial (trade) 
waste, to commence in January 2020.  

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented 

Volunteer litter picking scheme is now up and running. 
 

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments 

Energy efficiency standards now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017. 

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 10



7 

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of 
Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity 

East of Gravesend option (Option C) has been selected. Detailed design and 
mitigations now being undertaken.  Further consultation on detailed design changes 
to the scheme to be undertaken in January 2020.  Expected completion date 2027. 

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures 

Completed. 

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national 
requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents 

Monitoring has been undertaken in accordance with national requirements.  Data 
capture at all locations above 90%. The Council has engaged a specialist contractor 
to identify measures within our control which will have a positive impact upon air 
quality.   

 

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES 
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users 

 

Key Action Q2 Update 

Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme 

Target achieved for delivery of affordable homes in the Borough for 2017/18. Council 
new build programme progressing well on time and within budget. Phase 2 of the 
Council new build programme close to being finalised for approval. 

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017-18 

Delivery target achieved. 

Include community facilities as part of major new developments 

First primary school on Eastern Quarry at Castle Hill now open. Proposals for 
secondary school and primary school at Alkerden, Eastern Quarry being progressed. 
 

Proposals for a primary school at Ebbsfleet Green being progressed. 
 

Construction has started on a new primary school in the Northern Gateway (Central 
Rd). Opening of temporary school programmed for September 2019 with permanent 
school in September 2020.  
 

Application on Stone Lodge incorporating a secondary school has been approved.  A 
temporary school opened in September 2019.  The permanent secondary school is 
expected to open in September 2021.   
 

Plans are being progressed for a health hub on the former Co-op site as part of Muse 

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 10



8 

development.  
 

CCG is working with Kent County Council to bring forward GP surgeries on KCC 
owned land at Steele Avenue, Greenhithe, with funding support from CIL. 
 

Discussions are underway to secure a site for a further primary school in Stone. 

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes 

The Community Grant is open for applications on an annual basis, usually around 
October. Salute To Youth runs throughout the financial year, and in Quarter 2, 2 
awards have been made totalling £1,900. 

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light 

Dartford Festival was extremely successful with over 30,000 people attending over 
the weekend. 
 

All three Cinema in the Park events have taken place and were extremely well 
attended.  
 

All three Theatre in the Park events have now taken place, with over 400 people 
attending each performance. 

Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum 

Owing to changes in the way in which funding is provided by the HLA, the Council 
may need to look again at the future development of the Museum. 

Maximise the number of people registered to vote 
Canvass has seen good responses in ensuring that the Register of Elections is 
accurate and identifying potential electors to be invited to register. The calling of the 
snap General Election will mean an increase in registration. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 10



9 

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY 
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement 
 

Key Action Q2 Update 

Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money 

Much work has been completed to provide responsive and intelligent online access to 
information relating to the Refuse & Recycling service since the service provider 
changed from Amey to Urbaser. In essence, the enhanced online services available 
to the public means that all the calls currently taken by the Contact Centre relating to 
the Refuse & Recycling service could be handled online.  As calls relating to Refuse 
& Recycling represent over half all calls received by the Contact Centre, there are 
very significant efficiency gains to be had if a greater proportion of these calls were to 
be made online. 

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the 
Council 

Agile working is being rolled out to all users who have the ability to work from home. 

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget 

Medium Term Financial Plan reviewed and future year options to be determined. 

Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs 

2018/19 element of programme delivered on time and within budget. 2019/20 
programme has commenced. 

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates 

Additional 75% retention scheme delayed until 2021/22. Also delays reset of growth 
to date by a year. Most exiting pilot schemes cancelled for 2020/21. No new schemes 
proposed. 

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019 

Project now complete. 

 
  

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 38



1 

APPENDIX B 
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20 

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q2 2019/20 
 

Performance Indicator Status 

 
Alert 

 
Warning 

 
OK 

 
Data Only Indicator (no target) 

 

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 2019/20 

Target Note 
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status 

Community Infrastructure Levy income  £794,057 
 

£2,075,404 
 

£1,517,737 £870,903 £2,388,640 
 

  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been 
applied to eligible development since April 2014. 
During quarter 2 of 2019/20, 3 payments have been 
made. Some of these are instalment payments with 
further instalments to be paid during 2019/20 and 
2020/21. Payments can rise or fall from quarter to 
quarter, as CIL is only triggered upon commencement 
of consented development. 15% of the revenue 
generated from CIL liable developments in a local 
area, will be passed to town/parish councils and 
applied to projects in local neighbourhoods, and up to 
5% of the total CIL revenue may be used for 
administrative costs. In December 2018 Cabinet 
agreed an indicative 5 Year programme of CIL 
projects. This is to be updated in December 2019.  It 
is likely CIL allocations will be made towards 
health/GP provision during the 2020/21 financial year, 
subject to details being confirmed by the CCG.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 10



2 

Overall Borough Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 2019/20 

Target Note 
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status 

Overall business birth rate 660 
 

N/A  
Not measured for 

Quarters 
N/A 

 
  

The Business Demography data set refers to new 
business registrations as business births. Latest 
available figures show that there were 660 business 
births in 2017, which is down 10.81% from the 
previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
business birth rate in 2017 was 7,895. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update for 2018 is due at 
the end of November 2019. 

Overall business death rate 640 
 

N/A  
Not measured for 

Quarters 
N/A 

 
  

The Business Demography data set refers to 
businesses that have ceased to trade (identified 
through de-registration of the administrative units, that 
is, VAT and PAYE) as business deaths. Latest 
available figures show that there were 640 business 
deaths in 2017, which is up 29.29% from the previous 
year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the business death 
rate in 2017 was 7,620. This is an annual indicator 
and the next update is due at the end of November 
2019. 

District wide unemployment rate 1.3% 
 

1.7% 
 

1.9% 2.1% 2.1% 
 

  

There were 1,440 unemployed people in the Borough 
in September 2019, which represents an 
unemployment rate of 2.1%. This has increased by 
4.0% since the previous month (55 more unemployed 
people in September than in August), and has 
increased by 89.5% from the same time last year (680 
more unemployed people in September 2019 than in 
September 2018). In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
unemployment rate in September 2019 was 2.6%. 

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 

1,031 
 

1,010 
 

Not measured for 
Quarters 

N/A 
 

  

Another year of strong housing delivery across the 
Borough, which is expected to continue over 2019/20, 
taking into account the number of homes under 
construction in April 2019. Delivery at Ebbsfleet 
Garden City represented 13% of the overall figure. 
The proportion of housing delivered in Ebbsfleet 
Garden City is expected to rise in future year, as 
delivery levels at other sites across the Borough 
decrease, due to many of them of them reaching 
completion or final phases of development. 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 10



3 

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 2019/20 

Target Note 
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status 

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Total 
Fairfield Centre Visits 

504,916 
 

526,563 
 

147,831 141,152 288,983 
 

  

Quarter 2 has been another busy period for Fairfield. 
A lot of work was put into the summer holiday 
timetable to offer customers new and improved 
services such as inflatable fun and kids sports camp. 
Record usage numbers in all areas for the period, 
showing that the facilities and services at Fairfield 
continue to be well regarded. On the whole, 
customers are happy with standards and the wide 
range of services being provided with customer 
service measures improving from the previous period. 
 
Across the quarter, Places Leisure has continued the 
roll out of its improved digital platforms to provide a 
smoother online booking and purchasing ability. 
Customers are engaging with the service and the 
numbers of self-service bookings and purchases are 
ever increasing. 
 
New business rules are bedding in well and members 
are slowly but surely starting to take out and transfer 
to 12-month memberships with approximately 6% of 
the membership base choosing this option. 
 
A quarterly customer survey was carried out and the 
results came in with a 12.6% positive score. The 
sample section of customers that responded was 206, 
of which only 17 negative comments were received in 
comparison to 71 positives. From the negative 
comments, 50% were related to the car park capacity 
being inadequate. 

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Average 
Number of Park Run Users 

161 
 

266 
 

272 271 272 
 

  

Dartford Central Park park run: average 176 
participants per week. 
 
Dartford Heath park run average: 95 participants per 
week. 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 10



4 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 2019/20 

Target Note 
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status 

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Average 
Number of Junior Park Run Users 

35 
 

41 
 

40 40 40 
 

  
The number of runners and volunteers remain 
consistent. 

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Princes 
Park Mini Pitch Users 

191 
 

159 
 

36 35 71 
 

  

Income for this quarter is slightly down compared to 
the last quarter due to the teams being off throughout 
the summer. We now have all of the teams back and 
September has returned to being almost full. 
 
There is currently a waiting list for the mini pitches as 
they are fully booked during the key days of Tuesday, 
Wednesday and Friday but will ensure if any become 
available they will be filled almost straight away.  
 
The next quarter will see usage back to normal apart 
from the October half terms and Christmas break. 
 
Housekeeping on the mini pitch remains a good 
standard however being nearly 10 years old one of 
the pitches has multiple holes and needs work before 
the relay in the summer. They have requested for 
some new signs to ensure all people using the pitches 
adheres to the rules and regulations.  

Percentage attendance at the Orchard 
Theatre (% of total seats available which 
are used) 

59.42% 
 

62% 
 

54% 31.33% 42.67% 
 

  

The theatre was 'dark' for part of July and the whole 
of August due to major refurbishment works being 
undertaken in the main auditorium. The works were 
funded through Dartford Borough Council in the 
region of £490,000 with an adjustment to be made to 
the management agreement over 10 years. The 
works included, new seating, carpets, redecoration, 
lighting and a retractable seating structure. 

Number of local groups supported 
through Community Grant and other 
grant schemes 

38 
 

40 
 

2 4 6 
 

  

In quarter 2 there were 2 grants awarded under the 
DBC Community Fund and 2 grants awarded under 
the Salute to Youth Scheme. The Community Grant 
Scheme is currently being worked on for launch in the 
near future. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 10



5 

Overall Borough Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 2019/20 

Target Note 
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status 

Life expectancy gap for men 
Latest value is 
for 2015-17 – 

see note  
N/A 

 

Not measured 
for Quarters 

N/A 
 

  

Latest available figures for 2015-17 show that life 
expectancy is 7.5 years lower for men in the most 
deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 
7.7 years lower for men. This is an annual indicator 
and the next update is due July 2020. 

Life expectancy gap for women 
Latest value is 
for 2015-17 – 

see note  
N/A 

 

Not measured 
for Quarters 

N/A 
 

  

Latest available figures for 2015-17 show that life 
expectancy is 4.8 years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 
5.0 years lower for women. This is an annual indicator 
and the next update is due July 2020. 

Percentage of obese children in Year 6 22.2% 
 

N/A 
 

Not measured 
for Quarters 

N/A 
 

  

Latest available figures for 2017/18 show that 22.2% 
of children in Year 6 (10-11 year olds) were classified 
as obese in the Borough. This is higher than the 
previous year where 21.9% of children in Year 6 were 
classified as obese. In Kent overall (KCC area) for 
2017-18, the figure is 18.8%. This is an annual 
indicator and the next update is due in 2020. 

Percentage of adults achieving at least 
150 minutes of physical exercise per 
week 

71.5% 
 

N/A 
 

Not measured 
for Quarters 

N/A 
 

  

Latest available figures for 2017/18 show that 71.5% 
of adults were physically active in the Borough. This is 
up from the 2016/17 figure of 63.9%. This indicator is 
defined as the percentage of adults (aged 19+) that 
meet Chief Medical Officer recommendations for 
physical activity (150+ moderate intensity equivalent 
minutes per week). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 10



6 

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES 
 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 2019/20 

Target Note 
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status 

Total number of arrests instigated by 
CCTV this month 

78 
 

76 
 

21 23 44 
 

  
Outcomes have increased slightly due to an increase 
and stability in staffing levels. 

Total number of arrests supported by 
CCTV this month 

58 
 

81 
 

13 35 48 
 

  Outcomes remain stable. 

Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) 

116 
 

83 
 

68 62 62 
 

  

There has been some new take up from businesses 
but the overall figure remains slightly reduced due to 
business closures and financial constraints on some 
SME's. This remains a challenge. The new DTAC 
Intelligence Manager started in April 2019 and is 
working hard to increase membership. 

Number of Dartford Town Against Crime 
(DTAC) interventions against persistent 
offenders 

14 
 

10 
 

10 13 23 
 

  

We are continuing to use Community Protection 
Warnings (CPW) instead of DTAC exclusions which 
are non-enforceable. This is proving to be a far better 
and more strategic approach which has a legislative 
framework to support it.  

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued 

379 
 

343 
 

74 63 137 
 

  
This continues to be a highly effective tool in tackling 
ASB across the district. 

Number of Community Protection 
Notices issued 

46 
 

68 
 

6 12 18 
 

  
The lower numbers of CPN's (against CPW's) reflects 
the effectiveness of Community Protection Warnings. 

Number of Public Space Protection 
Order Enforcement Notices issued 

0 
 

1 
 

2 0 2 
 

  

The performance reflects the vulnerability of the 
enforcement principally laying with another agency 
(Police). 

Percentage of High risk (categories A & 
B) food hygiene inspections due and 
completed (cumulative) 

100% 
 

100% 
 

83.33% 91% 91% 
 

100% 

This represented 2 inspections where access could 
not be made for inspection. Access has been gained 
subsequently. 100% of Dartford high premises due 
have been inspected as of 5th November 2019. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 10



7 

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 
 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 2019/20 

Target Note 
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status 

The average results of Nitrogen Dioxide 
levels from all automatic air quality 
monitoring stations in the Borough 
(micrograms per m2) 

43.1 
 

40.2 
 

35.3 29.7 32.5 
 

  
Average NO2 levels within national objective levels at 
all Automatic Air Quality Monitoring Stations. 

Number of households taking part in 
energy efficiency initiatives in the 
Borough 

241 
 

350 
 

77 70 147 
 

  
Positive outcomes so far this year with end numbers 
likely to be in line with the 2018/19 out turn. 

Number of households taking part in 
green bin (garden waste) service 

5,740 
 

6,011 
 

6,067 6,234 6,150 
 

6,000 
The number of customers remains steady at just over 
6,000. 

Number of fly tipping incidents 2,560 
 

2,670 
 

823 706 1,529 
 

 Incidents remain at around 250 to 300 per month. 

Number of graffiti incidents 58 
 

64 
 

12 8 20 
 

 The number of reported incidents remains very low. 

Percentage of household waste going to 
landfill 

0.6% 
 

0.4% 
 

1% 1% 1% 
 

  
The amount of waste sent to landfill should remain at 
around 1% for the foreseeable future. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 10



8 

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES 
 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 2019/20 

Target Note 
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status 

Number of households on the housing 
register 

1,134 
 

785 
 

725 738 738 
 

  Similar figure to last quarter. 

Number of households living in 
temporary accommodation 

108 
 

69 
 

78 98 98 
 

  

In this quarter, homeless prevention outcomes are up 
significantly again following the introduction of the 
new working approach delivered and in reaction to the 
introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act. This 
is positive for applicants under the threat of 
homelessness. 

Number of households where 
homelessness has been prevented 

78 
 

215 
 

80 76 156 
 

  

Number of families in temporary accommodation is 
slightly up approx. 20 at the end of the last quarter. 
This is largely due to the increased number of "walk 
in" cases that we have seen over the summer and the 
lack of permanent move on accommodation available. 
The new processes introduced to meet the challenges 
of the Homelessness Reduction Act, the creation of 
the Homeless Hub and the successful prevention 
approach adopted will all assist in reducing the 
number of families in temporary accommodation. 

Number of service requests completed 
for Private Sector Housing 

234 
 

313 
 

183 57 240 
 

125 
On target to exceed target for year if current volumes 
continue. 

Percentage of repairs completed in time 87.62% 
 

91.40% 
 

94.29% 92.90% 93.63% 
 

98.00% 

There was a slight drop in performance over the 
summer period as expected but overall yearly 
performance is close to target. 

Average time taken to re-let local 
authority housing (in calendar days) 
(EXCL major works) 

21.02 
 

23.58 
 

20.97 17.49 19.62 
 

20 On target. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 10



9 

Overall Borough Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 2019/20 

Target Note 
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status 

Number of affordable homes delivered 
(gross) 

173 
 

237 
 

50 0 50 
 

60 
Slightly below half year target but expected to 
recover. 

Number of new homes completed (April-
March) 

1,031 
 

1,010 
 

Not measured 
for Quarters 

N/A 
 

  

Another year of strong housing delivery across the 
Borough, which is expected to continue over 2019/20, 
taking into account the number of homes under 
construction in April 2019. Delivery at Ebbsfleet 
Garden City represented 13% of the overall figure. 
The proportion of housing delivered in Ebbsfleet 
Garden City is expected to rise in future year, as 
delivery levels at other sites across the Borough 
decrease, due to many of them of them reaching 
completion or final phases of development. 

Number of service requests raised for 
Private Sector Housing 

272 
 

338 
 

97 90 187 
 

  
Service requests received this year likely to exceed 
those received last year if current volumes continue. 

Number of private sector vacant 
dwellings that are returned into 
occupation or demolished 

100 
 

100 
 

24 23 47 
 

40 Target exceeded. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 10



10 

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY 
 

Council Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 2019/20 

Target Note 
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status 

Percentage of in-year Business Rates 
collected 

98.9% 
 

99.3% 
 

30.7% 56.4% 56.4% 
 

56.0% 
Collection is running ahead of profiled monthly 
collection. 

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected 

97% 
 

96.8% 
 

29.1% 56.5% 56.5% 
 

55.5% 
Collection is running ahead of profiled monthly 
collection. 

Average time taken to process a new 
claim for Housing Benefit (cumulative) 

22 
 

23 
 

21 20 20 
 

 23 
Our new staff are starting to make an impact which 
means we continue to meet and exceed our target. 

Percentage of supplier payments made 
within 30 days of receipt of invoice 

99.35% 
 

99.18% 
 

97.87% 98.41% 98.14% 
 

 99% 

Performance slightly lower than expected. A long term 
sickness in the wider team has affected cover 
arrangements when payments staff are on leave 
resulting in less time to chase other staff to approve 
payments. 

Rent Collection and Arrears Recovery - 
rents collected as a proportion of rents 
owed. 

97.8% 
 

97.29% 
 

91.17% 94.66% 94.66% 
 

94% 
On target to achieve cumulative target set for end of 
year and is positive despite the challenges faced. 

Average number of DBC working days 
lost due to short term (<4 weeks) illness 
per employee 

3.18 
 

4.69 
 

0.76 0.98 1.74 
 

2 
Seasonal bugs are causing an increase in short term 
sickness. 

Average number of DBC working days 
lost due to long term (>4 weeks) illness 
per employee 

3.15 
 

6.31 
 

1.56 1.31 2.87 
 

2.52 
A number of long term sickness cases successfully 
returned to work. 

Number of visits to DBC website 829,677 
 

895,982 
 

200,973 
No longer 
measured 

No longer 
measured  

  

The Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) has 
clarified that the website cookie that Dartford (and 
every other Council) relies on to produce statistics on 
the number of visits to our website is not an essential 
cookie, and must therefore be turned off by default. 
The Council could offer the customer the opportunity 
to turn the cookie back on, but there would be no way 
of knowing the percentage of people who did decide 
to turn the cookie on, and this would likely be a 
relatively small proportion. Ultimately it is now 
impossible for the Council to comply with the ICO 
instruction and provide meaningful information on the 

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 10



11 

Performance Indicator 
2017/18 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 2019/20 

Target Note 
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status 

number of visits to the website. Information can 
instead be provided on the number of website hits, 
which in quarter 2, there were a total of 1,082,617 
website hits. 

Number of phone calls received by the 
Council 

518,358 
 

502,241 
 

122,406 120,517 242,923 
 

  

Volume of calls on par with last 2 quarters.  However, 
significantly lower than the same period last financial 
year. This could be attributed to better channel shift 
initiatives.   

 
  

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 50



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

28 JANUARY 2020 
 

 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ROLLING WORK PLAN 2019/20 

 

1. Summary 

 

1.1 At their meeting on 10 September 2019 the Committee agreed a revised Work 
Plan for the remainder of the current 2019/20 municipal year and beyond.  

1.2 This report provides for Members’ consideration and approval, a revised Work 
Plan (Appendix A attached) based on the Committee’s discussions on 10 
September 2019 as recorded in the Minutes [Min. No. 27 refers].  

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That, subject to the views of Members in Committee, the updated rolling Work 

Plan for the remainder of the 2019/20 municipal cycle and beyond [attached at 
Appendix A to this report] be agreed. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
 

3.1. At their meeting on 18 June 2019 and in accordance with its Protocol, 
the Committee agreed an initial Work Plan for the 2019/20 municipal 
year [Min. No. 14 refers]. 
 

3.2. Following subsequent discussions between the Chairman, Vice-
Chairman, Strategic Director (External Services) and representatives of 
Outside Bodies, revised Work Plan options were presented to 
Members for consideration and agreement on 10 September 2019.  
 

3.3. The revised Work Plan (attached as Appendix A to this report) reflects 
Member discussion on 10 September 2019, as confirmed in the 
Minutes of that meeting [Min. No. 27 refers]. 
 

3.4. Members are also invited to make their own suggests for inclusion in 
the Committee’s Work Plan for 2019/20 and beyond. 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications  None 

Legal Implications  None  

Staffing Implications  None 

Administrative Implications  None  

Page 51 Agenda Item 11



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

28 JANUARY 2020 
 

 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints 

  
7. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable. 
 

8. Appendices 
 
Appendix A – updated Committee Work Plan 2019/20 and beyond  
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents 
consulted 

Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

Previous 
2019-20 
Work Plan, 
Committee 
Minutes June 
and 
September 
2019 

 David Hook 
(01322) 343276 

Democratic Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

 
N/A 

 

Page 52Agenda Item 11



 

 

APPENDIX A 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE: Revised WORK PLAN 2019/20 Municipal Year and Beyond  

 
 

January 2020 March 2020 June 2020 September 2020 

Action Points Arising Report Action Points Arising Report Action Points Arising Report Action Points Arising Report 

The Litter Service 
Presentation by West Kent 
CCG’S CAMHS team 

Annual Welfare Reform 
Update 

Air Quality Annual Status 
Report 2020 

The Recycling Service 
Update from DGS CCG/D&G 
NHS Trust/Virgin Care – 
health provision in Dartford 

Committee Protocol and 
Annual Report 2019/20 

Performance Monitoring 

Performance Monitoring 

Kent Public Health Update – 
Government Green Paper 
and NHS England 10 Year 
Plan  

Agree 2020/21 Work Plan 

 
Regulation 9 Notice 

Regulation 9 Notice 
Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects Annual Report   

Performance Monitoring Work Plan Update 

Work Plan Update 

 
Performance Monitoring Regulation 9 Notice 

 
 

 

 
Regulation 9 Notice   

 
 

 

 
Work Plan Update   

 

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 54


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 10 September 2019
	6 Regulation 9 Notice
	7 Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee Meeting held on 10 September 2019
	8 The Litter Service
	9 The Recycling Service
	10 Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, Quarter 2 of the 2019/20 Municipal Year
	APPENDIX A - Corporate Plan Key Actions (Q2 - 2019-20)
	APPENDIX B - Corporate Plan Performance Indicators (Q2 2019-20)

	11 Work Plan Update
	Item 11 FINAL Appendix A POC 2019-20 Work Plan


